A neg.

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 16 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]
Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 69,770

CLIFFORD WEBBER,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAMELA D. CICHON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue
Fourth Floor
Daytona Beach, Florida 32014
(904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was charged by two informations filed on September 5, 1985, with the offenses of lewd and lascivious assault upon a child occurring on or before June 30, 1985, and capital sexual battery occurring on or before November 30, 1982 (R 1-2). Trial by jury commenced on September 9, 1985, and the jury found the respondent/defendant guilty of both counts as charged (R 32-33).

The court adjudicated the respondent guilty and respondent appeared with his counsel on January 9, 1986, for sentencing. The court sentenced the respondent to life imprisonment with a minimal mandatory 25 years imprisonment on the capital sexual battery conviction and a ten year concurrent sentence on the lewd assault conviction (R 34-39). The court also assessed statutorily authorized court costs against the respondent in the amount of \$228 (R 55). At the sentencing hearing no motion was made by respondent's counsel to declare respondent an indigent at the time of sentencing, so there was no determination by the court that respondent was indigent, nor was there any objection raised as to the assessment of these costs at the sentencing hearing.

On February 10, 1986, respondent filed his notice of appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, seeking, among other things, an order of the appellate court vacating that portion of the sentence which imposed court costs pursuant to section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985) (R 34).

On November 20, 1986, the district court of appeal rendered

its order affirming respondent's conviction and vacating that portion of respondent's sentence which imposed \$200 in court costs on the ground that the statute violates constitutional ex post facto restrictions, and certifying the issue as being of great public importance.

This appeal by the state followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court of appeal should not have addressed the issue of court costs here since it was not yet ripe for review and since the issue was not properly preserved for review by being raised at the trial level.

Application of section 27.3455, Florida Statute (1985) to this case is not in violation of any ex post facto prohibition since it provides merely for a procedural change regarding the collection of costs and does not disadvantage the respondent by increasing the quantum of punishment where the same costs could be imposed under the law existing at the time of the offense, and where respondent's accrual of gain time will not be affected by the statute.

POINT ONE

RESPONDENT FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR
APPELLATE REVIEW THE ISSUE OF THE EX POST
FACTO APPLICATION OF SECTION 27.3455(1),
FLORIDA STATUTES (1985)

When the trial judge indicated that he was ordering respondent to pay "the statutorily imposed fines", there was no contemporaneous objection interposed advising the judge of any alleged error with regard to ex post facto application of costs pursuant to section 27.3455(1) (R 55). Constitutional errors, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived unless timely raised in the trial court. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978), Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Respondent did raise this issue, however, in a direct appeal, but the constitutional application of a statute to a particular set of facts is a matter which must be raised at the trial level before it can be considered on appeal. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982). The application of the ex post facto doctrine to statutes has been held not to be fundamental error and that contemporaneous objection is required to preserve the issue for direct appellate review. Williams v. State, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982), Fredericks v. State, 440 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), Springfield v. State 443 So.2d 484 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), Brown v. State, 428 So.2d 369 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), Slaughter v. State 493 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Interestingly, respondent raised no objection on any grounds in the trial court to the imposition of \$228. The subsequent reversal by the Fifth District Court of Appeal based upon Yost v. State, 439 So.2d 131 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), was therefore in error

since respondent failed to preserve this issue for appellate review.

POINT TWO

APPLICATION OF SECTION 27.3455, FLORIDA
STATUTES (1985) TO CRIMES COMMITTED PRIOR
TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE STATUTE DOES
NOT VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL
PROHIBITION AGAINST EX POST FACTO LAWS.

Appellant/respondent was sentenced at a hearing on January 9, 1986, for crimes committed on or before June 30, 1985 and November 30, 1982. In the interim between the offense date and sentencing date, section 27.3455(1), Florida Statutes (1985), came into effect on July 1, 1985.¹ This statute provides for the mandatory imposition of court costs of \$200 for every felony conviction in addition to any other fines or costs. The costs are to be forwarded to the local government criminal justice fund for compensation for crime victims and witnesses called to testify. The district court of appeal determined that assessment against Webber at the sentencing on January 9, 1986, of \$200 court costs as set forth by that statute is a violation of ex post facto restrictions. Art. I, § 10, Fla. Const.

Despite the district court's holding that this type of sentencing error may be raised on appeal notwithstanding the respondent's failure to object at sentencing, petitioner contends, based on its Point One argument, that this issue has not been preserved for review and is not properly before this court. See, Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).

On its face, the statute is constitutional. The statute in

¹ This statute has been substantially revised. Ch. 86-154, Laws of Fla.

effect at the time of Webber's sentencing provides:

All applicable fees and court costs shall be paid in full prior to the granting of any gain time accrued. However, the court shall sentence those persons whom it determines to be indigent to a term of community service in lieu of the costs prescribed in this section, and such indigent persons shall be eligible to accrue gain time. . . .

Those defendants with an ability to pay are credited and awarded gain time just as they were before the effective date of this statute, provided they comply with the procedure for collection of court ordered costs. Indigent defendants are also credited and awarded gain time exactly as before. This statute provides for an alternative to the payment of the court costs in the performance of community service. This issue will not be ripe for review unless and until respondent refuses to pay the \$200 before his tentative release date. At that time, Webber should file a petition for writ of habeas corpus since he would essentially be attacking the legality of his detention. See, Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 28, 101 S.Ct. 960, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1981). More appropriately, Webber could move at that time, pursuant to the statute itself, for the court to determine his indigency status. Upon a finding of indigency, the court would grant the gain time, release respondent, and sentence him to a term of community service in lieu of paying the \$200. However, since the Fifth District Court of Appeal determined that the entire section of the statute was a violation of constitutional restrictions against ex post facto laws, to remand for imposition of community service in lieu of costs would be a futile gesture in light of

its ruling in Yost, supra. It is possible though that Webber might pay the \$200 by his tentative release date thus rendering his challenge to this assessment moot. Nevertheless, appellee/petitioner will proceed with its brief on the merits and advance several arguments in support of the proposition that there is no ex post facto violation in this case.

Statute 27.3455 does not alter the penal provisions, nor does it impose a more onerous penalty since court costs, not penal in nature, could always be imposed at the time of respondent's offense. §§ 939.01, 943.25, Fla. Stat. (1985). Trial courts could always impose split sentences which included incarceration followed by community service, restitution, fines or any other disposition authorized by law. See, §§ 775.083, 775.989, 775.071, and 921.187, Fla. Stat. (1985). This statute involves a mere procedural change by which costs are extracted from criminal defendants and does not require application of the ex post facto doctrine. Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 293, 97 S.Ct. 2290, 53 L.Ed.2d 344 (1977); State v. Jackson, 478 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985).

The United States Supreme Court has held that in order to establish an ex post facto clause violation, two elements must be present: it must be retrospective, and it must disadvantage the offender because it may impose greater punishment. Even if a statute merely alters the penal provisions accorded by the grace of the legislature, it is ex post facto if it is retroactive and more onerous than the law in effect on the date of the offense. Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. at 964-965. Although the statute is

not retroactive on its face, petitioner recognizes the retroactive application in this case where the offenses were committed prior to its effective date. However, this statute does not alter penal provisions. Weaver v. Graham, supra, concerned a statute that changed the gain time that would be awarded to prisoners. Here, computation of gain time is unaffected by this statute, only the procedure by which it is credited is changed. The change in the way court costs are collected is not related to either the crime or the penalty. If a criminal defendant is not indigent for the purposes of this statute, gain time will still accrue, but it will be forfeited if the money is not paid by the defendant's tentative release date. Forfeiture of gain time for failure to pay a certain sum ordered by the court has always been proper pursuant to sections 944.275, (5), which applies to sentences imposed for offenses committed on or after July 1, 1978, and 944.28, Florida Statutes (1985). Failure to obey a court order of any kind constitutes contempt and thus subjects the violator to forfeiture of gain time. See, § 38.23, Fla. Stat. (1985). The provision of section 27.3455 prohibiting the granting of accrued gain time for non-payment of a court ordered fee is nothing but a statement of the law as it existed prior to the conviction of Webber's offense. Unlike the facts in Weaver, supra, the forfeiture of gain time provided by section 27.3455 does not change the amount or availability of gain time. In Dobbert, supra, the Florida death penalty statute was upheld against an ex post facto attack because the change in the statute was "clearly procedural." "Even

though it may work to the disadvantage of a defendant, a procedural change is not ex post facto." Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. at 293.

Even the indigent defendant cannot argue the statute imposes a greater quantum of punishment than previously authorized. An indigent does not lose gain time, nor does an indigent pay costs. Instead, an indigent must perform community service at the termination of incarceration. Again, prior to the date of Webber's offense, the court had the authority to impose a split sentence. It is clear under this statute, that all persons who are found guilty of any felony or misdemeanor shall have additional costs imposed at the time of sentencing. In imposing those costs, the court's cannot distinguish between indigent and non-indigent defendants. However, a distinction is made between indigent and non-indigent defendants with regard to collection of such costs. It is also clear that immediate payment of these costs is not mandatory as the enforcement procedures in the statute provide an alternative to payment capable of being exercised in the future, upon a determination of indigency. A determination of indigency for purposes of this section can be made at any time, as the court retains jurisdiction expressly for that purpose. This feature of the statute recognizes that a person's financial circumstances can change after conviction. Upon proper motion to the court, a determination of indigency can be made at any time, and in lieu of the payment of the costs the defendant may perform community service so that gain time would not be forfeited by a failure to pay the costs. Performing

community service was something the defendant could have been required to do under pre-existing law.

Under section 939.01, Florida Statutes (1985), there appears to be no limit, excepting that set by the reasonable discretion of the trial court, to the costs which might be imposed upon conviction. Similarly, as in the case of May v. Florida Parole and Probation Commission, 435 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1984), respondent had, at best, nothing more than a tenuous expectancy regarding his punishment under the law existing when he committed his crimes. Respondent's sentence under any law has been a matter of judicial discretion.

As noted by the court in Weaver v. Graham, supra:

"Critical to relief under the Ex Post Facto Clause is not an individual's right to less punishment, but the lack of fair notice"

450 U.S. at 31, 101 S.Ct. at 965. When respondent committed his crime, he was on fair notice that any sentence he might receive would be subject to the discretion of the court. Any alleged right to less "punishment" was vitiated by such notice.

The assessment of court costs against Webber does not violate ex post facto doctrines since it is not an increase in the quantum of punishment, but is merely a procedural change. Since under the costs and penalty statutes in effect at the time of respondent's offense, either costs or community service could be imposed, there can be no application of a subsequent costs provision which would defeat the concept of the ex post facto law. See, Lee v. State, 294 So.2d 305, 307 (Fla. 1974). Consequently, the Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in finding


§ 27.3455(1) unconstitutional as applied to respondent.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, petitioner respectfully prays this honorable court reverse the decision of the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Fifth District.