047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SEN. J. WHITE

FEB 5 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]
Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 69,770

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 CLIFFORD WEBBER,)
)
 Respondent.)
 _____)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
112 Orange Ave., Ste. A
Daytona Beach, FL 32014
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent accepts the Statement of Case and Facts as set forth in the Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, with the following additions and clarifications:

Prior to the imposition of costs, the defendant was not given notice nor was he afforded any opportunity to be heard. (R55) [Additionally, in assessing the "statutorily imposed fines ... those which the legislature imposes" the court never orally indicated that a portion of the costs was imposed pursuant to Section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985). (R55) It was only in the written sentence that it appears the costs were in fact imposed pursuant to that statutory provision. (R34)]

At the district court level, the state never questioned the permissibility of raising the costs issue for the first time on direct appeal. (See Answer Brief of Appellee, attached as Appendix).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

No contemporaneous objection is necessary to address the issue of costs on appeal since (1) the defendant was never afforded adequate notice and opportunity to object, and (2) the imposition of the costs rendered the sentence illegal, thus negating the need for such an objection.

Under pre-existing law, the granting of credit for gain-time by the Department of Corrections was mandatory and its forfeiture was subject to findings made in compliance with procedural safeguards. Section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985), provides for the automatic withholding of gain-time so long as court costs are not paid or until community service following incarceration is ordered. The automatic denial of gain-time for nonpayment of court costs imposes a burden and an additional penalty on Respondent which did not exist prior to its enactment, and the application of Section 27.3455 in this case therefore violates the ex post facto provisions of the Florida and United States Constitutions.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE IMPOSITION OF COSTS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 27.3455,
FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), MAY
BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON
APPEAL, ESPECIALLY WHEN THE
DEFENDANT HAS NOT BEEN AFFORDED
ADEQUATE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY
TO OBJECT.

For the first time in this case, the state is questioning the defendant's ability to raise the appropriateness of Section 27.3455 costs on appeal without having made a contemporaneous objection at the trial level. This issue was never presented by the state in the full appeal in the district court in this cause. (Appendix) The state should thus be estopped from raising such a claim now in this Court; the state has waived a procedural defect, if any existed.

A contemporaneous objection is not necessary to preserve the argument of the imposition of costs pursuant to Section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985), where the defendant was not afforded adequate prior notice of or opportunity to object to the imposition of such costs. Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984); Harris v. State, 12 FLW 67 (Fla. 1st DCA December 22, 1986); Brooks v. State, 490 So.2d 173 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Since the ex post facto imposition of the costs upon an indigent renders the sentence illegal, no contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve the issue for appeal. State v. Whitfield, 487 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1986); State v. Rhoden, 448 So.2d 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1984);

Webber v. State, 497 So.2d 995 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

The district court of appeal, therefore, correctly addressed the merits of claim concerning the ex post facto imposition of costs against the indigent defendant.

POINT II

THE APPLICATION OF SECTION 27.3455,
FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), TO CRIMES
COMMITTED PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE
DATE OF THE STATUTE VIOLATES THE
EX POST FACTO PROVISIONS OF THE
CONSTITUTIONS OF THE UNITED
STATES AND OF THE STATE OF
FLORIDA.

Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution prohibits the passage of any ex post facto law. Even if a statute merely alters penal provisions accorded by grace of the legislature -- such as gain time -- it violates the ex post facto clause of the United States Constitution if it is both retrospective and more onerous than the law in effect on the date of the offense. Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S.Ct. 960, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1981); Art. I, § 9 Cl. 3, U. S. Const. In Weaver, Section 944.275, Florida Statutes (1975), was declared unconstitutional because it reduced the amount of gain time which could be earned by prisoners whose crimes occurred before the statute's effective date. The Supreme Court held that the statute in the case was not merely procedural simply because it did not alter punishment prescribed for the offense. Likewise, the application of Section 27.3455(1), Florida Statutes (1985), to defendants whose crimes occurred prior to July 1, 1985, the effective date of the new statute, violates the ex post facto provisions of the United States and Florida Constitutions.

Section 944.275(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1983), provided that the Department of Corrections shall grant basic

gain-time at the rate of ten days for each month of each sentence imposed on a prisoner. Sections 944.275(5) and 944.28 provided that gain-time may be forfeited or shall be subject to forfeiture for violations of the laws of Florida or the rules of the Department of Corrections.

Petitioner argues that because of the pre-existence of provisions for forfeiture of gain-time, in Sections 944.275(5) and 944.28, Section 27.3455(1) imposes no new penalty or additional punishment. Petitioner says that, by the enactment of Section 27.3455(1), it is not gain-time which is changed by only the procedure by which it is credited. See Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p. 8.

This contention overlooks the very clear and material distinction between the pre-existing provisions for forfeiting accrued gain-time and the new law which does not allow gain-time to be granted until the new requirements are met. The withholding of gain-time awards, moreover, is automatic so long as Section 27.3455(1) is not complied with, whereas the former provisions of forfeiting gain-time required that there be findings of guilt made [§944.275(5), Fla. Stat. (1983)], and that a particular method for declaring a forfeiture of gain-time be followed. § 944.25(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1983). Petitioner also cites the pre-existing law that refusal to obey a court order may constitute contempt, in order to argue that failure to pay court costs pursuant to Section 27.3455(1), being the nonpayment of a court-ordered fee, is the equivalent of a violation of the law of this State. See Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p.9. § 944.28(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1985).

Again, this argument fails to distinguish between a finding that a prisoner has violated a law, with its attendant procedural safeguards, and Section 27.3455(1)'s automatic withholding of gain-time. See §38.22, Fla. Stat. (1985) (Power and proceeding to punish contempt); Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.570(c), 1.982 (Civil contempt power and proceeding).

As the District Court found herein, Section 27.3455(1), (1985), clearly violates the constitutional prohibitions against ex post facto laws because it does not permit gain-time to accrue while the costs remain unpaid or, as to indigent defendants, it requires the court to impose a sentence of community service after incarceration. It is not merely procedural because an additional penalty is being imposed by the new statute against defendants who do not or cannot pay these costs. Petitioner acknowledges that Section 27.3455(1) is being applied retroactively in this case, to sentences for crimes which occurred prior to July 1, 1985. See Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, pp. 6,8-9. The elements which render a penal law ex post facto -- that it apply to events occurring before its enactment and that it disadvantage the offender affected by it -- are present in this case. Weaver v. Graham, supra. The district court's decision to reverse that portion of the trial court's judgment imposing court costs of two hundred dollars in each case should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons expressed herein, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the District Court's decision to reverse that portion of the trial court's order imposing court costs herein, and answer the certified question by finding that the application of Section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985), to crimes committed prior to July 1, 1985, violates the ex post facto provisions of the Constitutions of the United States and of the State of Florida.